IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OCTZAVIUS NEKEITH WEAVER

APPELLANT

V.

FILED

NO. 2007-KA-1423-COA

FEB 2 5 2008

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
Justin T Cook, MS Bar No
301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Octzavius Nekeith Weaver

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-01423-COA

OCTZAVIUS NEKEITH WEAVER

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION
STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS 2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT 4
ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE IDENTIFICATION PROCESS WAS SO SUGGESTIVE AS TO BE UNRELIABLE
ISSUE TWO: WHETHER APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS WAS VIOLATED WHEN A SHOW UP IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURE WAS PERFORMED AFTER HIS INVOKING OF THE RIGHT.
ISSUE THREE: WHETHER THE STATE IMPROPERLY COMMENTED ON DEFENDANT'S POST-MIRANDA SILENCE
ISSUE FOUR: WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONALLY MANDATED RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL
ISSUE FIVE: WHETHER THERE WAS CUMULATIVE ERROR THAT DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Stovall v. Denno, 388 U. S. 293, 87 S. Ct. 1967, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1199 (1967)
Banks v. State, 816 So. 2d 457, 460 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)
Brooks v. State, 903 So.2d 691, 694 (Miss. 2005)
Brooks v. Texas, 381 F.2d 619 (5th Cir.1967)
Bufkin v. State, 98 So. 452, 454 (1923)
Cannady v. State, 455 So.2d 713, 722 (Miss. 1984)
Cherry v. Hawkins, 243 Miss. 392, 137 So.2d 815 (1962)
Coccora v. Vicksburg Light and Traction Co., 126 Miss. 713, 89 So. 257 (1921) 17
Cole v. State, 666 So. 2d 767, 777 (Miss. 1995)
Coleman v. Alabama, 399 U.S. 1 (1970)
Coleman v. State, 749 So. 2d 1003, 1012 (Miss. 1999)
Colenburg v. State, 735 So. 2d 1099, 1102 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)
Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976)
Gaito v. Bierley, 485 F.2d 86 (3d Cir. 1973)
Gergstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 122 (1975)
Gilmer v. Gunter, 46 So.2d 447 (Miss.1950)
Griffin v. State, 557 So. 2d 542, 553 (Miss. 1990)
Griffin v. State, 558 So. 2d 542, 556 (Miss. 1990)
Hackett v. State, 822 So. 2d 1078, 1082 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)

Hansen v. State, 582 So.2d 114, 142 (Miss. 1991)
Hernandez v. Beto, 443 F.2d 634 (5th Cir. 1971)
Hiter v. State, 660 So. 2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995)
Jackson v. State, 423 So.2d 129, 131-32 (Miss. 1982)
Jimpson v. State, 532 So.2d 985, 989 (Miss. 1988)
Johnston v. State, 567 So. 2d 237, 238 (Miss. 1990)
King v. State, 251 Miss. 161, 168 So.2d 637 (1964)
Lamar v. State, 63 Miss. 265 (1885)
Livingston v. State, 525 So. 2d 1300, 1307 (Miss. 1998)
Mackbee v. State, 575 So. 2d 16, 24 (Miss. 1990)
McFee v. State, 511 So. 2d 130, 136 (Miss.1987)
Mississippi Supreme Court. Stringer v. State, 454 So. 2d 468, 576 (Miss. 1984) 11
Nicholson v. State, 523 So.,2d 68, 74 (Miss. 1988
Page v. State, 495 So.2d 436, 439 (Miss. 1986)
Perkins v. State, 487 So. 2d 791, 793 (Miss. 1986)
Puckett v. State, 737 So.2d 322, 351 (Miss. 1999)
Quick v. State, 569 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990)
Redmond v. Marshall, 162 Miss. 359, 137 So. 733 (1931)
Roche v. State, 913 So.2d 306, 310 (Miss. 2005)
Ross v. State, 954 So. 2d 968, 1018 (Miss. 2007)
Rush v. State, 301 So. 2d 297 (Miss. 1974)

Shah v. Miss. Bar, 919 So. 2d 59, 64 (Miss. 2005)
Shearer v. State, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss. 1983)
Standard Oil Co. v. Franks, 167 Miss. 282, 149 So. 798 (1933)
Stewart v. Mississippi Bar, 969 So.2d 6 (2007)
Stovall v. Denno, 388 U. S. 293, 301 (1967)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)
Stringer v. State, 627 So. 2d 326, 329 (Miss. 1993)
United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300, 321 (1973)
United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 226 (1967)
Watson v. Holeman, 169 Miss. 585, 153 So. 669 (1934)
York v. State, 413 So. 2d 1372, 1381 (Miss. 1982)
STATUTES
Miss. Code 1942 5
U.S. Const. amend V
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Miss. Code. Ann. 99-19-83 (Supp. 2004)
Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2004)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OCTZAVIUS NEKEITH WEAVER

NO. 2007-KA-1423-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE IDENTIFICATION PROCESS WAS SO SUGGESTIVE AS TO BE UNRELIABLE.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS WAS VIOLATED WHEN A SHOW UP IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURE WAS PERFORMED AFTER HIS INVOKING OF THE RIGHT.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE STATE IMPROPERLY COMMENTED ON DEFENDANT'S POST-MIRANDA SILENCE.

ISSUE FOUR:

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVENESS DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONALLY MANDATED RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

ISSUE FIVE:

ISSUE FIVE: WHETHER THERE WAS CUMULATIVE ERROR THAT DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Octzavius Weaver, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for armed robbery and being a felon in possession of a firearm against Octzavius Nekeith Weaver following a jury trial on July 17-18, 2006, honorable William Gowan, County Judge, sitting as Circuit Judge by special appointment, presiding. Mr. Weaver was subsequently sentenced to life imprisonment in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections under *Miss. Code. Ann. 99-19-83 (Supp. 2004)*.

FACTS

According to testimony, on May 16, 2006, William Penn (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Penn") was going to The Green Room, a pool hall in Jackson, Mississippi, to meet a friend. (T. 53). Outside, according to his testimony, Mr. Penn was approached by a man with a gun who demanded his wallet. (T. 53). After taking Mr. Penn's wallet, the individual ran off. (T. 53). Mr. Penn then followed that person and wrote down the license plate number of the car he got into. (T. 54). When the police arrived, Mr. Penn gave the license plate number to them. (T. 54).

Police used dispatch and tracked the vehicle's owner to 2940 Randolph Street in Jackson,

where they went. (T. 76). Upon arriving, police saw the vehicle in question and took two individuals into custody. (T. 76). Police recovered a handgun from the bushes at the residence. (T. 78). In the vehicle, police officers found a card with Mr. Penn's name on it and a spare key to one of Mr. Penn's vehicles that was in his wallet. (T. 80).

After the incident, Mr. Penn drove home to Canton, which, according to his sworn testimony, took him forty-five (45) minutes. (T. 55). There, he received a phone call from police that sad "they had him in custody." (T. 55).

When Mr. Penn arrived at the police station, they took him to one room containing one individual, and asked Mr. Penn if that was the individual who robbed him, to which he replied in the negative. (T. 55-56). They then took Mr. Penn to another room containing Octzavius Weaver (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Weaver"). (T. 56). Mr. Penn responded that the person in that room was the individual that robbed him. (T. 56). Mr. Penn subsequently did a photographic lineup, picking out Mr. Weaver again as the individual that robbed him. (T. 56).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant was denied his fundamental right to a fair trial by the improper admission of identification evidence against him. The show up procedure was improper, unreliable and inadmissible at trial. Furthermore, appellant was denied his constitutional right to counsel during the show up identification, also making it inadmissible at trial. Furthermore, during trial, the State improperly commented on appellant's post-*Miradna* silence. Appellant's defense was further prejudiced by trial counsel's ineffectiveness in pre-trial, trial, and post-trial matters. Lastly, when taken in concert, these errors, if harmless on their own, amount cumulatively to a violation of appellant's right to a fair trial and warrant reversal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE IDENTIFICATION PROCESS WAS SO SUGGESTIVE AS TO BE UNRELIABLE.

I. Standard of Review

The standard of review on appeal regarding the admissibility of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Johnston v. State*, 567 So. 2d 237, 238 (Miss. 1990). Unless a trial court abuses its discretion in admitting the specific evidence, the appellate court will not find error. *Shearer v. State*, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss. 1983).

The standard of review for trial court decision concerning pretrial identification is "whether or not substantial credible evidence supports the trial court's findings that, considering the totality of the circumstances, in-court identification testimony was not impermissibly tainted." *Roche v.*State, 913 So.2d 306, 310 (Miss. 2005). The appellate court will only disturb the trial court's order where there is an absence of substantial credible evidence supporting it. *Id.*

ii. The show up identification process was impermissibly suggestive and, therefore, unreliable.

After the incident, Mr. Penn drove to his home in Canton, and shortly thereafter, received a phone call saying that "they had him in custody." (T. 55). Mr. Penn then drove to Standard Life building to view Mr. Weaver, who was being detained. (T. 55). There were two suspects in two separate rooms by themselves (T. 64). Mr. Penn went into one room, saw a person, indicated it was not the person who allegedly robbed him. (T. 56). He then proceeded to the other room, where Mr. Weaver was, saw him, and identified him. (T. 56).

On the second day of trial, defense counsel objected to the introduction of the show up identification and photographic lineup identification. (T. 48, R.E. 22). The trial court concluded, "I think that at the appropriate time during the course of this proceeding you certainly can challenge

with regard – or may at least cross-examine as to the adequacy of the identification, and we'll cross that bridge when and if it comes into play' (T. 51, R.E. 25).

Mr. Penn was told that they had the person that robbed him in custody. The circumstances surrounding this identification process clearly contradict standards established by the United States Department of Justice, National Institute of Justice, September 2003 Special Report, *Eyewitness Evidence: A Trainer's Manual for Law Enforcement*, where it is taught that officers should only advise a witness that a <u>possible</u> suspect is being detained so as not to be overly suggestive and create a situation where the witness does not want to contradict the officer.

"The practice of showing suspects singly to persons for the purpose of identification and not part on a lineup has been widely condemned." *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U. S. 293, 301 (1967); *See also, York v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1372, 1381 (Miss. 1982).

As pointed out in *York*, an unnecessarily suggestive pretrial identification does not alone require exclusion of the identification evidence which may be admitted if the identification is reliable under the totality of the circumstances. *York*, 413 So. 2d at 1381.

An impermissibly suggestive pretrial identification does not preclude an in-court identification by an eyewitness who viewed the suspect at the procedure, unless: (1) from the totality of the circumstances surrounding it (2) the identification was so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." *Id.* at 1383.

When there are suggestive identification procedures, the reviewing court must look at other indicia of reliability. In *Banks v. State*, the victim was robbed of her purse at knife point and defendant was identified by her at a show up within five minutes. *Banks v. State*, 816 So. 2d 457, 460 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The *Banks* Court relied on other indicia of reliability including that the

^{1.} Available over the Internet at http://www.ncjrs.gov/nij/eyewitness/188678.pdf.

defendant was caught with two knives, near the scene of the crime and within a few feet of the victim's purse. *Id.*; *See also*, *Hackett v. State*, 822 So. 2d 1078, 1082 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (concluding that the fact that defendant was caught within thirty minutes of the crime with stolen property was indicia of reliability).

The facts in the case *sub judice* are distinguishable from both *Banks* and *Hackett*. First, it was at least two hours after the incident that Mr. Weaver was displayed to Mr. Penn. Mr. Penn had been at the crime scene in Jackson, driven home to Canton, received a call from the police, and driven back to downtown Jackson before making the identification; Moreover, in neither *Banks* nor *Hackett* were the victims of crimes told that their subject had been arrested.

Furthermore, it cannot be argued that Mr. Penn's subsequent identification of Mr. Weaver in a photo array constitutes an indicia of reliability.² The faulty show up identification procedure resulted in a tainted photographic array identification on the part of Mr. Penn. Therefore, the array should not be considered an indication of any reliability in Mr. Penn's show up identification of the appellant.

The procedures enumerated in the rules of evidence and Mississippi common law are not idle suggestions. These procedures are mandatory and serve the ultimate goal of justice. "In criminal procedures, due process requires, among other things, that a criminal prosecution be conducted according to established criminal procedures." *Mackbee v. State*, 575 So. 2d 16, 24 (Miss. 1990). The jury was informed that Mr. Penn identified Mr. Weaver shortly after the alleged crime. The admission and subsequent treatment of that identification sealed the fate of Mr. Weaver, who was denied the protections of criminal procedure when he needed them the most.

² There is conflicting testimony as to whether the photo array was displayed to Mr. Penn two weeks after the show up identification or that same day.

Under the totality of the circumstances, then, it appears that Mr. Penn's identification of Mr. Weaver is highly questionable; therefore, the admission of the identification of Mr. Weaver by Mr. Penn was impermissible.

iii. Conclusion

Because the identification procedures performed by the Jackson Police Department were unfairly suggestive, all identification stemming from the show up procedure should have been inadmissible at trial. For those reason, this honorable Court should reverse Mr. Weaver's conviction and remand for a new trial without inadmissible evidence used to convict him.

ISSUE TWO: WHETHER APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE UNITED STATES AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS WAS VIOLATED WHEN A SHOW UP IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURE WAS PERFORMED AFTER HIS INVOKING OF THE RIGHT.

Among the rights guaranteed under both the United States and Mississippi Constitutions is the right to counsel. The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides, in pertinent part: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right. . . . to have the assistance of counsel for his defense." *U.S. Const. Amend. VI.* The parallel provision in the constitution of the State of Mississippi provides as follows: "In all criminal prosecution the accused shall have a right to be heard by himself or counsel..." Miss. Const., Art. III. § 26 (1890); *Page v. State*, 495 So.2d 436, 439 (Miss. 1986); *Cannady v. State*, 455 So.2d 713, 722 (Miss. 1984).

Once the right to counsel attaches, it applies not only to trial, but also to any "critical stage" of the prosecution. *Coleman v. Alabama*, 399 U.S. 1 (1970). *See also*, *United States v. Ash*, 413 U.S. 300, 321 (1973)(Stewart, J. concurring). The United States Supreme Court has described a "critical stage" as "those pretrial procedures that would impair defense on the merits if the accused is required to proceed without counsel." *Gergstein v. Pugh*, 420 U.S. 103, 122 (1975). The United States Supreme Court has further concluded that a critical stage is "any stage of the prosecution,

formal or informal, in court or out, where counsel's absence might derogate from the accused's right to a fair trial." *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 226 (1967). The *Wade* court concluded that a pretrial lineup constitutes a "critical stage" under sixth amendment analysis. *Id.* It should be noted that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel does not apply when police display photographs, including those of the defendant, to witnesses for identification purposes. *See Ash*, 413 U.S. 300.