IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OCTZAVIUS NEKEITH WEAVER

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

NO. 2007-KA-1423-COA

APR 17 2008

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Weaver was wearing his shirt "backwards" when first observed at the house. R. 88. Mr. Penn looked at Mr Harris who was inside a separate room from Weaver. He did not identify him as his assailant. He identified Weaver who was in a separate room. Penn was also shown a computer generated photo lineup. He identified Weaver's photo without any suggestions having been made. There was no contemporary objection to testimony about Weaver's identification from the photographic line up.

photographic line up.

Q. Okay.

A. And then the complainant, Mr. Penn, also came to the office. I had developed what we call a photo array where you take six pictures of similar individuals and put them on a photo sheet. I developed the photo array, showed it to Mr. Penn, and he identified Weaver as being the one that robbed him. R. 99. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Q. Okay. Did you have any further investigation involvement?

A. I also, the crime itself happened at six o'clock. An hour or an hour and a half later when the police officer followed up on the tag number that the complainant, Mr. Penn, had wrote down of the subject that robbed him, they went to the address where the tag came back registered to, which was on Randolph. The patrol officer went there and found the car, found the weapon and some personal property that belonged to Mr. Penn. R. 101.

On cross examination, Officer Daniels testified that photo line up was shown to Mr. Penn the same day Weaver was apprehended.

O. Yeah, he testified it was two weeks later that he was shown the photo lineup?

A. The photo lineup was shown that day. R. 102. (Emphasis by Appellee).

On re-direct, Officer Daniels testified that Mr. Penn told him that Harris, the custodian of the car Weaver was driving, was not involved in the robbery. This was the first person Penn observed. He was in a separate room from Weaver. After eliminating Harris, Mr. Penn then identified Mr. Weaver. He informed Daniels Weaver was "the person" who robbed him.

In short, the record indicates that this was not a suggestive single person show up.

Q. Okay. Did William Penn advise you that Octzavious Weaver was the individual who robbed you?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he advise you that William Harris was not an individual who was involved in the robbery?

A. Right

Q. . So from one room to the next, you have two people for him to look at, and he chose one and not the other?

A. Right. R. 108-109.

In **Banks v. State** 816 So.2d 457, 460 -461 (¶16-¶17) (Miss. App. 2002), the Court found that Mrs. Franklin's identification of Banks had an independent observational basis. In that case, she identified Banks at a one man show up within fifteen minutes of the robbery. She was "face to face with him." This was not found to be impermissibly suggestive.

¶ 16. In applying these five factors to the present case, this Court notes the following: 1) Mrs. Franklin had the opportunity to view Banks when she stood face to face with him, as he demanded her purse; 2) Within five minutes after the robbery, Mrs. Franklin described to Officer Stillman the robber's physical appearance, including his clothing, hair, and weapon; 3) Within minutes, Officer Stillman arrested a person with the same physical appearance, clothing, hair, and weapon; and 4) Within fifteen minutes of the robbery, Officer Stillman brought Banks back to Piggly *461 Wiggly, where Mrs. Franklin positively identified Banks as the person who robbed her.

¶ 17. The trial court found, and this Court agrees, that there were sufficient indices of reliability to not warrant a suppression of the identification.

In Magee v State, 542 So. 2d 228, 233 (Miss. 1989), the Supreme Court found that a viewing of a photographic lineup display was not "a critical stage" of the proceedings against an appellant.

The point regarding the photographic lineup is even less meritorious. A photographic lineup is not a "critical stage". Accordingly, an accused enjoys no right to counsel in connection with a photographic lineup. **Nicholson v. State**, 523 So.2d 68, 71-72 (Miss. 1988); **Johnson v. State**, 359 So.2d 1371, 1374 (Miss. 1978); See also **United States v. Ash**, 413 U.S. 300, 321, 93 S.Ct. 2568, 2579, 37 L.Ed.2d 619 (1973). The assignment of error is denied.

The record cited indicates credible, corroborated evidence in support of the trial court's ruling. Mr. Penn had "an independent observational basis" for identifying Weaver. Weaver was only a few feet from him during day light hours. Penn was "face to face" with Weaver. Penn was

paying close attention. He observed his face, his clothing, his black semi-automatic weapon, his car tag, as well as the distinctive tattoo on his neck.

Identification removed from Penn's stolen wallet was found inside the car Penn identified by tag number. The black semi-automatic weapon used in the robbery was found at the scene with the car. R. 101. Penn was "sure" that Weaver was his assailant rather than Mr. Harris, the custodian of the car, or the five other men in the photo-spread he reviewed before picking out Weaver's image. The Appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED AS WELL AS LACKING IN MERIT.

Weaver argues that "the show up" process in which he was involved violated his right to counsel. He believes this was "a critical stage" of the proceedings against him. Since Weaver invoked his right to counsel prior to the show up, he believes that his Constitutional right to counsel was violated. Appellant's brief page 7-9.

To the contrary, the record reflects that there was no contemporaneous specific objection to Mr. Penn's identification of Weaver in the court room. R. 54. In addition, when Mr. Penn identified Weaver from a photographic spread and at a two man show up, Weaver was a "suspect" who was not yet eligible for an attorney or an initial appearance.

In **Thompson v. State** 726 So.2d 233, 237 (Miss. App.1998), the Court found that a show up was not a critical stage against an appellant. Where the appellant is still a suspect during an investigation, he has no right to counsel.

¶ 18. Consistent with the facts in Nixon, a review of the record before us reveals that Thompson was merely a suspect when the officers presented him to Steele for positive identification. There is no evidence that formal adversarial proceedings had commenced against Thompson prior to Steele's identification of him during the show-up. Consequently, we find that Thompson's Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not attached at the time of the show-up.

As shown under proposition I, there was ample record evidence in support of the trial court finding that Penn's identification of Weaver as his assailant was not impermissibly suggestive. R. 148. Rather, the record reflects that he had an opportunity to see the suspect, his face, his clothing, his weapon, and the license plate of the car he had borrowed from Mr. Harris. In addition, there was evidence that Mr. Weaver had a distinctive tattoo visible on his neck which Penn noticed when he saw him at the scene of the crime. R. 58.

Nor was there any specific contemporaneous objection to the manner in which the two man show up and the six man computer generated photo spread was conducted. The record reflects that the original objection was that the two man show up was improper because the two men were allegedly "in the same room" when Weaver was identified. R. 50. The testimony of Officer Daniels indicated this was not true. R. 99-109. Weaver was in one room, and the custodian of the car Weaver used was in another separate room. R. 55-56; 108.

In Conner v. State, 632 So. 2d 1239, 1255 (Miss. 1993), the Court pointed out that it is necessary to make "a specific objection" to the introduction of evidence. An objection can not be "enlarged" on appeal. A trial court can not be faulted for issues not specifically raised during the trial.

An objection on one or more specific grounds constitutes a waiver of all other grounds. Stringer v. State, 279 So. 2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973); see McGarrh v. State, 249 Miss. 247, 276, 148 So 2d 494, 506 (1963) (objection cannot be enlarged in reviewing court or embrace omission not complained of at trial). Cert denied, 375 U.S. 816, 84 S. Ct. 50, 11 L Ed 2d 51 (1963). Since Conner failed to object to the State's form of verdict instruction on grounds that it was incomplete, he is procedurally barred from raising the point here.

Harris, who had control of the car, was in one room and Weaver was in another. R. 55-56; 108. There was no record evidence that any suggestions were made to Weaver. That is no suggestions as to who was his assailant and who was not. Nor was there any specific objection to the six man photo line up based upon any feature, marking or prominent placement in the series of photos that would have made Weaver's photo stand out or be distinguishable from any of the others.

In **Brooks v. State** 903 So.2d 691, 694-695 (¶ 7-¶8) (Miss. 2005), relied upon by Weaver, the appellant was subjected to a lineup after he had been indicted, and extradited from Illinois. This clearly distinguished that case from the instant cause. Weaver was a suspect in an on going

investigation prior to any "initial appearance" or indictment. "All reasonable security measures" for the location of evidence and suspects had not been completed.

¶ 7. In Coleman v. State, 592 So.2d 517 (Miss. 1991), this Court held: As a matter of the law of this state, the right to counsel attaches once the accused is in custody (a fact generating the legal copologion that the individual is under arrest)

in custody (a fact generating the legal conclusion that the individual is under arrest) and all reasonable security measures (of evidence and persons) have been completed. At all critical stages thereafter, the accused is of right entitled to access to counsel, absent a specific*695 knowing and intelligent waiver tied to that stage.

¶ 8. Adversarial proceedings had certainly commenced against Brooks prior to the lineup. An arrest warrant had been issued, and he had been extradited from Illinois. Furthermore, Brooks had signed a document indicating that he did not want to speak to any law enforcement authorities either in Illinois or Mississippi for any investigation.

In **Jimpson v. State** 532 So.2d 985, 989 (Miss.1988), the Supreme Court found that the failure to have counsel at a lineup identification was "harmless error." It was harmless error because there was sufficient evidence for determining that the identification of the appellant in that case was based "their view of the defendant at the bank." Their independent observations of Jimpson at the time of the criminal confrontation provided a basis for their in court identification..

In Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), the United States Supreme Court first recognized the doctrine of "harmless constitutional error."

We conclude that there may be some constitutional errors which in the setting of a particular case are so unimportant and insignificant that they may, consistent with the federal constitution, be deemed harmless, not requiring the automatic reversal of the conviction.386 U.S. at 21, 87 S.Ct. at 827, 17 L.Ed.2d at 709.

This principle is applicable to the case now before this Court. Although Jimpson's right to counsel had attached at the lineup, thereby constituting a technical violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, the record is clear as to both witnesses, that their identification was based on their view of the defendant at the bank and its vicinity and was not based on the lineup identification. See **York v. State**, 413 So.2d 1372, 1380-83 (Miss.1982).

It should also be noted that in this case, even if the lineup was improper, the amount of evidence favoring conviction was overwhelming. Jimpson here protests his lack of counsel at the lineup, not the lineup itself. Even without the lineup identification, the amount of other evidence present in this case is overwhelming. See **Meadows v.**

Kuhlmann, 812 F.2d 72, 76 (2d Cir.1987); **Robinson v. Percy**, 738 F.2d 214, 220-21 (7th. Cir.1984).

In summary, this Court holds that even though the constitutional right to counsel had attached at the critical stage of a lineup identification held after arrest, there is no reversible error here. The error is harmless for there is no sufficient showing in the record that the identification testimony was impermissibly tainted by the lineup being held without the presence of legal counsel. **Nicholson**, **supra** at 77.

In Wilson v. State 759 So.2d 1258, 1262 (Miss. App. 2000), the Appeals Court found that a photo spread is not prejudicial unless an appellant's photo is singled out in some way from the others assembled.

¶ 10. Our supreme court has established that a photographic array containing pictures of the assailant viewed by the victim is not unduly prejudicial unless the assailant's photograph is notably different from the remaining photographs or the officer conducting the photo line-up makes some comment suggesting the identification of the assailant. Wilson v. State, 574 So.2d 1324, 1327 (Miss.1990) (quoting York v. State, 413 So.2d 1372, 1383 (Miss.1982)). Further, even if the pre-trial photo line-up is determined to be unduly suggestive, a later in-court identification is still perfectly admissible unless, from the totality of the circumstances, the pre-trial identification was so suggestive as to create a "very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Wilson, 574 So.2d at 1327.

The record reflects there was no specific objection either to the show up or the photo spread as to how it was allegedly "impermissible suggestive." Weaver, like Jimpson, objected to his lack of counsel, not to how the show up and photo spread selection processes was supposedly "impermissibly suggestive." Nor was there any evidence that the investigation of the circumstances under which Penn was robbed had been completed at the time of the show up or the showing of the photographic spread.

The Appellee would submit that under the facts of this issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND WEAVER'S POST MIRANDA SILENCE WAS OPENED UP BY HIS TRIAL COUNSEL.

Weaver argues that he was not given a fair trial because the prosecution was allowed to comment on his right to remain silent after having been given his **Miranda** rights. While this information did not come during cross examination of the appellant, since he did not testify, it was, nevertheless, brought out and used against him. He argues that this testimony came through state witnesses which had a prejudicial effect upon the jury. Appellant's brief page 9-11.

To the contrary, the record indicates that there was no objection to testimony from Officer Kent Daniels about Weaver stating that he did not want to talk without having an attorney present.

R. 99. There was also no objection to the question on redirect by the prosecution. This was a follow up question based upon questions on cross examination. R. 108-109. And the objection to a question to Officer Daniels about whether Weaver ever "provided you with an alibi or any alternative theory to this investigation" was general, and not specific. In addition, the record reflects that the objection was sustained and Officer Daniels never answered the question. R. 109.

In explaining his involvement in the instant cause, Officer Kent Daniels mentioned that Weaver was given his **Miranda** rights. After being given those rights, Weaver informed him that he did not want to talk without having a lawyer present. There was no contemporaneous objection.

Q. Could you relate to the jury what your involvement was in that case?

A I conducted the follow up investigation...Once they brought him to the office, I advised him of his **Miranda** rights, which he said that he didn't want to talk without a lawyer present, so from there the patrol unit automatically took him to the city holding facility. R. 99

In Whigham v. State, 611 So. 2d 988, 995 (Miss. 1995), this Court stated that it without

a contemporaneous objection or argument, issue raised on appeal were waived.

Counsel for the first time on appeal complains that the closing argument of the State commented upon Whigham's failure to testify. It is, of course, incumbent upon counsel at trial to make a contemporary argument, and also in his motion for a new trial, failing in which the error is waived. **Dennis v. State**, 555 So. 2d 679 (Miss. 1989); **Dunaway v. State**, 551 So. 2d 162 (Miss. 1989)...

On cross examination, Officer Kent Daniels was questioned about whether Weaver had ever admitted that "he did it?" On redirect, the prosecution asked whether Weaver ever said that he didn't do it.

Q. And basically to this day the defendant hasn't given any incriminating statements against himself, has he? He's never said he did it or anything, is that right?

A. Correct. R. 107-108. (Emphasis by Appellee).

On redirect, the prosecutor asked a follow up question, given the opening up of issues related to Weaver's not providing any incriminating statements to investigators.

Q. Did he ever say he didn't do it?

A. No, he didn't. R. 107-108

In **Gill v. State**, 485 So. 2d 1047, 1051 (Miss. 1986), the court found that cross examination opened up questions related to other wrongs. The defense by inquiring on cross-examination about a conversation between Mary Gill and the prosecutrix, Lynn Gill, opened the door. It was relevant for the jury to get an understanding of the context in which the conversation had occurred. As stated:

Moreover, the objectionable testimony was a continuation of a conversation brought in by the defense in an attempt to show the prosecutrix's hostility toward her father and once having allowed a partial view of the circumstances, the prosecution was rightly allowed to include the remainder of the mother's conversation with the daughter, including accusations against the father of prior sexual assaults. The trial court told the appellant that he could not "shut the door". Where one side opens the door, the other may come in and develop that point in greater detail. See **Jefferson v. State**, 386 So. 2d 200, 202 (Miss. 1980); Cf. Simpson v. State, 366 So. 2d 1085,

1086 (Miss. 1979).

The record reflects that a question on redirect about whether Weaver provided any alibi or alternative theory to this investigation was withdrawn. This was after an objection and a bench conference off the record. The record reflects that Officer Daniels did not answer the question.

Q. At any time has Octzavious Weaver provided you with any alibi or any alternative theory to this investigation?

Stewart: Objection, may we approach?

(Off record discussion at bench)

Sanders: We'll withdraw the last question, your Honor. R. 109. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Therefore, the Appellee would submit that there was no evidence provided the jury about Weaver's post **Miranda** silence with regard to any alternative theory of investigation, such as an attempted alibi..

In **Quick v. State**, 569 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990), relied upon by the appellant, the Supreme Court reversed because of an improper amendment of the aggravated assault indictment against Quick. There was dicta included indicating that commenting upon a defendant's post-Miranda silence could be error. However, as shown with cites to the record above, the facts of this case indicate Weaver "opened up" questions about what he said after he was arrested. R. 107-108.

The Appellee would submit that this issue was waived for failure to make a contemporaneous objection, as well as for having opened up issues related to what Weaver said or did not say relevant to the charges against him in the instant cause. This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION IV

THE RECORD REFLECTS TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

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